
 

Karlswald 

(Karolswalde, Karolswald, KarlsWaljd ; Carlswalde) 
 

Russian: ʂʘʨʩʚʘʣʴʜ; Karlsvald 

German: Karolswald 

 

Also known as Holendry or Golendry 

Ukrainian: ɻʦʣʝʥʜʨʠ; Holendry 

Russian: ɻʦʣʝʥʜʨʳ; Golendry 

 

Also known as Holendry Slobidzkie; Slobodskie Gollendry; Slobodarskie 

Holendry; Sloboda Galendry; Holendry Slobodzkie; Sslobodskie Olendry 

Ukrainian: ʉʣʦʙʦʜʘʨʩʢʽʝ ɻʦʣʝʥʜʨʳ; ʉʣʦʙʽʜʩʴʢʽ-ɻʘʣʝʥʜʨʠ 

Russian: ʉʣʦʙʦʜʩʢʠʝ-ɻʘʣʝʥʜʨʳ 

 

Also known as Prykordonne 

Ukrainian: ʇʨʠʢʦʨʜʦӢʥʥʝ; Prykordonne 

Russian: ʇʨʠʢʦʨʜʦʥʥʦʝ; Prikordonnoe 
 

Karlswald is depicted on Jake Unruhôs map just north of Leeleva, south of the Town of Ostrog 

and the Ostrog Forest.
1
  In reality, the Village of Karlswald is indeed almost due north of 

Leeleva (Lesna) about 4 or 5 miles, although the way by road would be several miles farther.  

The village sits right on the western edges of the Ostrog forest, about 2.5 miles south of the 

Ostrog Castle. 

 

First of all, a couple words about the various names of the village.  German sources indicate the 

vill age was founded by the name Karolswald by Germans in the very early years of the 19
th
 

Century.
2
  In 1886, authorities of the Russian Empire required that German colonies be called 

by Russian names so the village officially reverted to its Slavic name; Sloboda Golendry (or a 

derivation of such).  Sloboda is a common village name in Ukraine and Poland.   



The etymology of the name infers that the area was free from taxes for a period of time, based 

upon exemptions made by the landowner.
3
  After the tax exempt period expired, the village 

would just keep the name.  In the case of Sloboda Golendry, it probably meant something like 

the Hollander (Golendry) tax exempt settlement (Hollander tacked on perhaps to differentiate it 

from the other village named Sloboda (or Slobodka) less than a mile to the north.  Locals may 

have simply referred to the village as Golendry and the Germans in the area may have simply 

called it Holland.
4
  There are many villages by the name Sloboda all across Russia and Ukraine, 

as well as others named Golendry. 

 

After the Polish-Soviet War of 1921, Poland took control of land to the north and west of the 

Vilna River, including the town of Ostrog, and lands to the south and east of the river remained 

under Soviet control.  Sloboda Golendry, laying only a stoneôs throw east of the river, on the 

Soviet side, became known as Prikordonnoe, after a Ukrainian term for border.  The village 

retained this name for the duration of Soviet control and is called the Ukrainian equivalent, 

Prykordonne, today.  So thatôs why this village is alternately known as Karlswald, Sloboda 

Golendry, and Prykordonne. 

 

Mennonites Come to Karlswald 

 

The German Mennonites who founded Karlswald arrived in Volhynia from West Prussia, which 

was a region of the First Republic of Poland.  They came as a result of several events which 

dovetailed together propitiously, providing these Mennonites with a new home.   

 

German Mennonites had long inhabited the banks of the Vistula River, from the riverôs mouth 

at Danzig (Gdansk) throughout the delta regions (werder was a word used to describe the delta 

areas) and upriver even as far as Schwetz (Swiecie) and Culm and beyond.  These pacifist 

Anabaptists lived among the Catholics and Lutherans in the relatively progressive First 

Republic of Poland (also known as the Polish-Lithuanian Commonwealth), draining swamps 

and maintaining productive farmland.  The majority of these Mennonites lived in West Prussia 

which was a fiefdom of the Polish king.
5
  West Prussia was also known as Royal Prussia, not to 

be confused with East Prussia, also known as Ducal Prussia, which lay east of the Vistula 

centered around the town of Königsberg (today known as Kaliningrad). 

 

As the Prussian Dukes became more and more powerful over the course of 18
th
 Century, their 

landholdings began expanding in Europe and they developed a large, powerful army.  The 

pacifist Mennonites did not fit well into this militaristic society and the Prussian government 

pressed them harder and harder regarding military service and taxation, and made much more 

difficult their ability to acquire and own land.
6
 

 

As the Prussians were gaining in power, so too were the overlords of the Habsburg Monarchy 

(Austria, officially vassals of the Holy Roman Empire) and the Romanov Tsars of the Russian 

Empire.  The Polish king, along with his cumbersome, quarrelsome nobility, was unable to 

retain authority over his realm.  In 1772 Prussia, Russia and Austria began dividing Polish 

territory among themselves.
7
  This was known as the Partitions of Poland. 



 

The three Partitions of Poland, occurring in 1772, 1793 and 1795, witnessed the entire territory 

of the First Republic of Poland divided between Prussia, Russia and Austria, and Poland 

officially existed no more.  The Mennonites of the Vistula valley at that point found themselves 

living no longer in the Polish kingdom, with its religiously tolerant policies, but in militaristic 

Prussia. 

 

This map, from the year 1800, shows the results of the Partitions of Poland.  The entire map 

shows the borders of the First Republic of Poland.  Outlined to the right in yellow are the lands 

taken by Russia; in red toward the bottom center are lands taken by Austria; in green towards 

the left are lands taken by Prussia.  Note Ostrog, circled just right-of-center towards the bottom, 

formerly part of Poland, part of Russia after the Partitions.
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The Partitions of Poland; 1772, 1793 and 1795 

 

Meanwhile, Empress (or Tsaritsa) Catherine II (the Great), herself a native Prussian (her name 

was actually Sophie Friederike Auguste von Anhalt-Zerbst-Dornburg) found herself at the head 

of the quickly expanding Russian Empire.  In the south, Russia emerged victorious after a series 

of conflicts with the Ottoman Empire (Turkey) in the 1760s and 1770s after which Russia 

gained control of right-bank Ukraine (lands east of the Dnieper River) and the Crimean 

Peninsula, an area that came to be known as New Russia.  And in the west, as a result of the 

Partitions of Poland, Russia gained control over large portions of Lithuania, Belorussia, 

Volhynia and Moldava. 

 

  



In an effort to colonize these new Russian territories and transform them into productive 

countryside, Catherine turned to her native Prussia, intent on colonizing her new territories with 

productive German farmers.  The cornerstone of the new Russian colonization policy was the 

famous manifesto of Catherine the Great, issued on July 22, 1763.  This manifesto stipulated the 

conditions regarding settlement of foreign colonists in Russia, their rights and responsibilities as 

well as a number of significant benefits relating to taxation, allocation of land, ability to self-

govern, and military service.
9
   

 

Catherine sent recruiters abroad and many German Mennonites, crowded out of land along the 

Vistula and in order to avoid military conscription throughout Prussia, jumped at this chance. 

 

The first Mennonite settlement in the Russian Empire was the Chortitza Colony, the earliest 

villages of which were settled by Prussian Mennonites in 1789.
10

  The Chotitza Colony was 

located south of the City of Ekaterinoslav
11

, along the western banks of the Dnieper River in 

Ekaterinoslav Gubernia.   

 

Very soon after this, another congregation was formed in the village of Michalin.
12

  The Village 

of Michalin was located about 10 miles south of the Town of Machnowka (now known as 

Komsomolske); slighty more than 20 miles south of Berdychiv in Kiev Gubernia.  The 

Molotschna Mennonite Colony was founded several years later, in 1804.  This later colony was 

located just northeast of the Russian Town of Melitopol in southern Tauride Gubernia.
13

 

 

In traveling to South Russia, the Prussian Mennonites loaded their wagons and headed south 

along the Vistula to Warsaw.  From there they struck eastward along the ancient road through 

Volhynia.  The road passed through Vladimir, Lutsk, Dubno, and Ostrog, and then on to Korets, 

Novograd Volyn, and Zhytomyr.   

 

According to a map drawn in 1951 by Hermann Epp, Mennonites on their way to the 

Molotchna Colony took the road southeast from Ostrog to Zaslaw, and then on to Berdichev.
14

  

The entire distance from the Prussian Werders to the sunny skies of southern Tauride, was more 

than 1,000 miles.  And it was traveled all by foot or wagon. 

 

 

 

 

 

Continues . . . 

  



This map from the early 1800s, shows the Kiev-Brest road as it ran through Volhynia (marked 

in red).  Mennonites on their way to South Russia passed through Ostrog, then southeast via 

Zaslaw and Berdichev or Machnovka (marked in blue).
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Early 19
th

 Century Volhynia 

 

Michalin, the earliest Mennonite Colony close to Volhynia, was settled by Mennonites from the 

Vistula valley as well as from Brenkenhoffswalde, near Driesen.  The Michaliners leased land 

from the Polish noble family, Potocki, which owned large tracts of land in western Kiev 

Gubernia.
16

  These Michaliners would later be served by the Mennonite bishop from Karlswald 

and most would leave Russia in 1874.
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As Mennonite caravans began to travel to South Russia they crossed Volhynia and many would 

have stopped along the way at Ostrog.  Ostrog was the home town of the powerful Polish Noble 

Family, the Ostrogski, one of the most prestigious families in Volhynia  Ostrog was also home 

to one of the oldest institutions of higher learning in Eastern Europe, the Ostrog Academy.  One 

such group of travelers en route to South Russia from the Vistula valley was the Karl Dirks 

Family. 

 

The Karl Dirks Family was traveling to South Russia along with a Mennonite caravan.  The 

date must have been sometime between the second and third Partitions of Poland (2
nd

 Partition: 

1793; 3
rd
 Partition: 1795).  The Dirks Family included two teenage boys; 16 year old Jacob and 

15 year old Benjamin.   

  



About the time the caravan crossed the Polish-Russian border, Jacob became seriously ill.  

Polish guards at the border-crossing volunteered to watch after the boy since he might be ill for 

several weeks.  The Dirks Family would continue on their journey and the guards promised to 

send the boy along with other Mennonite caravans after he recovered.
18

 

 

This map shows the Polish-Russian border after the Second Partition of Poland in 1793.  The 

pink area to the left is Poland; the yellow-outlined white portion to the right is Russia.  Note the 

proximity of the border to the towns of Dubno and Ostrog.  The border was about 10 miles east 

of Dubno; about 20 miles west of Ostrog.
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  It was near this crossing where Jacob Dirks fell ill. 

 

 

 
Polish-Russian Border after the 2

nd
 Partition of Poland; 1793 

 

The Dirks Family continued with the caravan several more miles to the Town of Ostrog where 

they paused on their journey.  They could bear to travel no farther leaving their son behind, but 

the rest of the travelers were not of a mind to stop.  The Dirks Family abandoned the journey 

and returned to care for their son.   

 

Exact details are unclear, but at nearly the same point in time, colonists from the Village of 

Michalin had abandoned their village and were searching for a new home.  Furthermore, 

Mennonites from Zabara
20

, also known as Dossidorf, were also seeking a new village.  These 

two groups, the Michaliners and Zabarans, together with the Dirks Family, apparently settled on 

the southern outskirts of the Town of Ostrog and named their new village Karlswald, after Karl 

Dirks.
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This map shows the early Mennonite settlements of Karlswalde, Zabara and Waldheim, as well 

as Michalin, in Volhynia in the early 19
th
 Century.  The distance from Karlswald to Michalin 

given the 19
th
 Century route would have been in the neighborhood of 150 miles. 
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Early Prussian-Mennonite Settlements in Volhynia 

 

 

In 1801 the Karlswalde villagers settled a lease with the landowner Charles Jabğonowski.
23

  The 

original lease called for the village, collectively, to receive 34 uvoloki
24

 of hayfield and 

undeveloped land, building material for the construction of houses, and cash loans in the 

amount of 200 zloty
25

 per family, re-payable after 3 years.  Rent payment for each family was 

60 kopecks annually per morg (ʄʦʨʛ) of land.
26

  These terms were provided for 19 Prussian 

Mennonite families.
27

  This lease was executed in either 1801
28

 or 1802
29

.  The Karlswald 

Churchbook, compiled in the 1830s, contained the following inscription regarding this lease: 

 

Mennonites who previously lived in the Kingdom of Prussia, near Driesen and Swetz, 

who migrated and settled in the Wolhynien government, near the city of Ostrog, in the 

year 1802 and later, with the permission and a written agreement of his sovereign 

Majesty, the Russian Crown Prince, Karl Jablonovsky.
30

 

 

  


